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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN JOSE DIVISION
J&J SPORTS PRODUCTIRS, INC, Case N0.5:11¢cv-01163LHK
Plaintiff,

ORDERDENYING MOTION TO

V. ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT

KIM HUNG HO, INDIVID UALLY
and d/b/a THOA CAFE,

Defendant

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff J & J Sports Productions, In@laintiff) has movedo alter or amenthejudgment
of this Caurt againstDefendanKim Hung Hq individually and dba&’hoa Caf§Defendant).See
ECFNo. 20 (“Motion”). Having considexd Plaintiff's Motion, the Courfinds this matter suitable
for decision without oral argument, and accordingly VACATES the hearing on thierivsst for
May 31, 2012.SeeCivil L. R. 7-1(b). For the reasons set forth below, the OENIES
Plaintiff's Motion.

. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

Plaintiff alleges that it owns exclusive commercial distribution rights to theopayiew
program “The Event’: The Manny Pacquiao v. Joshua Clottey, WBO Welterweight Givashjp
Fight Program’(“Program”), originallytelecast nationwide on March 13, 201%2eCompl. 9.

OnMarch3, 2011 Plaintiff filed this action for violation of the Federal Communications Act of
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1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. § 605 and 47 U.S.C. § 553, as well as violations of California I3

against conversion and California Business and Professions Code § 1d.200012-17. Based on

the allegations contained in its comptaPlaintiff broughtfour causes of action against Defendant

(1) violation of 47 U.S.C. § 60%t seq. (2) violation of 47 U.S.C. § 55%t seq.(3) conversion;
and (4) violation of California Business and Professions Code § 1&26€qg

B. Procedural Background

Plaintiff filed its complaint on March 10, 2011. On July 14, 2(dffer Defendant failed to
respond to the complaint, Plaintiff moved for entry of default ag@atgndant. ECFNo. 10. On
July 21, 2011the Clerk entered defaulECFNo. 12.

On September 12011,Plaintiff moved for default judgmenECFNo. 15. On January
18, 2012theCourt entered judgmenpainst Defendarior a total amount of $16,000, consisting
of: $2,000 in statutory damages under 47 U.S.C. § 605; $12,000 in enhanced damages unde
U.S.C. § 605and$2,000 in compensatory damages for conversggeOrder Granting Motion
for Default Judgmen&CF No. 17(“Default Judgment Order” or “Order.”)

OnFebruaryl5, 2012 Plaintiff moved to alter or amend the judgment of the Court with
respect to the statutognd enhanced damagdsCF No. 20.

. LEGAL STANDARD

This Gourt may alter or amend a judgment pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
59(e). Rule 59(e) is generally seen‘as‘ extraordinary remedy, toebused sparingly’and at the
discretion of the CourtCarroll v. Nakatanj 342 F.3d 934, 945 (9th Cir. 2003) (citation omitted);
seeMcQuillion v. Duncan342 F.3d 1012, 1014 (9th Cir. 2003Amendment or alteration is
appropriate under Rule 59(e) if (1) the district court is presented with Késglyvered evidence,
(2) the district court committed clear error or made an initial decision that wasesthninjust, or
(3) there is an intervening change in controlling la&iftnmerman v. City of Oaklan@55 F.3d
734, 740 (9th Cir. 2001accord McDowell v. Calderqri97 F.3d 1253, 1255 (9th Cir. 1999) (en
banc)

Only the second prong is at issue in this case, as Plaintiff does not present gny newl

discovered evidence and concedes that there has bebamge in controlling lawClear error is
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not established by arguing that another court “would have decided the casentlyf; instead, it
requires a “definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committagdléy v. Cromartie
532 U.S. 234, 242 (2001) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Courts grant
reconsideration due to clear error “only if the prior decision was ‘cleariyng.” Bull v. City &
Cnty. of S.F.758 F. Supp. 2d 925, 928 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (citieglie Salt vUnited States55
F.3d 1388, 1393 (9th Cir. 1995)). “A district court does not commit clear error warranting
reconsideration when the question before it is a debatable Mwdles v. TingeyNo. C 05-3498
PJH, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20776, at *1 (N.D. Cal., Feb. 3, 2010) (diicigowell, 197 F.3d at
1256).

(1.  ANALYSIS

In its motion to alter or amend judgmeRiaintiff argueghatthe Courtcommitted clear
error in awarding insufficient statutory and enhanced damages because (1) otrehawvert
awarced “more significant damages awards . . . under less egregious circumstandg2y) the
Court’s award “do[es] not adequately address the policy consideration ofragefeture acts of
piracy. Mot. at 3-4.The Court addresses these arguments fittst r@spect to its statutory
damages award of $2,000, and then with respect to its enhanced damages award of $12,000|

A. Statutory Damages under Section 605(e)(3)(C)(i)(11)

Under § 605,fithe Court determines the Plaintiff is entitled to damages, the armabunt
those damages is set by what “the court considers just.” 47 U.S.C. 8§ 605(e)@)006); see
alsoKingvision PayPer-View, Ltd. v. Backmari02 F. Supp. 2d 1196, 1198 (N.D. Cal. 2000).
Plaintiff contends that the Colgtstatutory damages avebof $2,000 is insufficient because “[t]he
facts of this case are particularly egregious.” Mot. at 4. Specifically, Hlamits to the fact
that the Program was being broadcast on thirteen television screens to betwesh I2% @eople,
and to tke fact that Defendant is a repeat piracy offender.

While 47 U.S.C. 8 605(e)(3)(C)(i)(I1) (200@yovides for minimum and maximum
damages, it does not specify the manner in which the court must calculate stiduotages. 47
U.S.C. § 605(e)(3)(C)()(IN(ii). Accordingly, courts have the discretion to decide “which of the

defendants’ acts constitutes a violation,” and to “determine the number of violatidrassess
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damages for each violationKingvision PayPer-View, Ltd. v. Lalalep429 F. Supp. 2d 506, 513-
14 (E.D.N.Y. 2006). As the Court noted its Default Judgment Order, “[a] traditiorabchef

determining statutory damages is to estimate either the loss incurred by the plaih&fpoofits

made by the defendants.” Order at 2 (citing cas€be Court noted that here, there was no cover

charge at the time of the unlawful broadcast. Thus, in light of the absencderica/pf
Defendant’s profits as a result of the unlawful conduct, the Court exergsdidatetion under 8
605 to calclate statutory damages based on loss to Plaintiff. Plaintiff's evidence esdblish
Plaintiff's loss to be $2,000, the cost of a commercial license for broadcastRybram based
on Thoa Café’s 200-person capaciSee id. The Court’s award of $2,000 in statutory damages
thus already accurately accounts for Defendant establishment’s full capagignyaimcrease in
statutory damagdsased on the number of patrons present during the viewoolgl simply be
duplicate recovery.

Plaintiff's comparisons to the statutory damages awards in two prior cases involving th
Defendant, in which incidents involving significantgwer patrons resulted in proportionately
larger awardsgjoes not change the Court’'s analysseeMot. at5. 47 U.S.C. § 605 doestno
mandate awards proportional to the number of patrons potentially involved, and the $2,000 a

is the most accurate estimate of the loss incurrdeldintiff as a result of this particular violation,

based orPlaintiff's evidence SeeOrder at 23. As described above, this method of estimating the

plaintiff's losses is well within the Court’s discretiodvhile Plaintiff may have preferred the
Court employ a different method of calculating damagésintiff has failed to cite any authority
establishmg that the Court’s method of choice was clearly erroneous. Accordingly, the Court
denies Plaintiff's request to alter or amend the statutory damages award.

B. Enhanced Damages under Section 605(e)(3)(C)(i)(I1)

Plaintiff next contends that the Coutearly erred in awarding insufficieehhanced
damagespointing to Defendant’s history of piracy offenses and a trend among other courts in

awarding more significardamages as evidencetbeé Court’serror. Section 605 provides that

“[i] n any case in which theourt finds that the violation was committed willfully and for purposes

of direct or indireccommercial advantage or private financial géire court in its discretion may
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increase the award of damages . . . by an amount of not more than $100,000 for each violatig
S 47 U.S.C. § 605(e)(3)(C)(ii). In this case, the Court found that Defendant’s unlawtivat
was, indeed, willful, and further reasortédt, “[i]n light of Defendant’s status as a repeat
offender, . . a heightened enhanced awarqustified.” Order at 4 However, the Court also
noted that, at the time of Defendant’s unlawful conduct that forms the basissfeuithionly one
judgment had thus fdreen entered against Defendaartd thus Defendant was not on noti€e

any other enhanced damages awatdbke time of the operative miscondudtaking into account
the individual circumstances of this Defendant’s history of piracy, as wdleamtounts awarded
by other courts in this District, the Court found an enhanced damages award of $12,000 to bg
reasonable See idat 45.

Notwithstanding the Court'decision Plaintiff argues that the Cdig award was “clearly
erroneous” because $12,000 is an inadequate penalty to deter Defendant from continuing to
commit acts of piracyPlaintiff cites a case from the Eastern District of New York for the
proposition that “the defendant must be held accountable for an amount significant endeign t
[its illegal] conduct.” Mot. at 6 (quoting&J Sports Prods., Inc. v. Castrillp2009 WL 1033364,
at *4 (E.D.N.Y. Apr. 16, 2009)) While the Court appreciates that deterrence of piimawy
important policy goal underlying the Federal Communications Act, Congresdigusmasly
granted individual courts wide discretion in fashioning enhanced damages basedon a
finding of willfulness. See47 U.S.C. § 605(e)(3)(C)(ii)). The Court is not requiredthyuseto
increase damages for every act of willfulness. Rathepl#ne language of thstatute states that
the Court tn its discretiormayincrease the award” if it finds willfulness. 47 U.S.C. §
605(e)(3)(C)(ii) (emphasis added). As the Courtsditionto award enhanced damages in this
caseis derived from the statute, aadthe Court remained withirts discretion inawarding an
enhanced damages award based on Defendant’s repeat offenses and the award®oftstimer ¢
this District the Cout did not commit clear erras wouldjustify altering or amending the
judgment. Plaintiff has failed to cite any authoritymuch less binding authorityestablishing

otherwise.
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Finally, Plaintiff argues that the Court should have followed other district courts that ha
awardedmore significant, and even maximum, awards. Mb&8. Plaintiff cites to cases from
the Eastern District of California, Southern District of New York, Westastritt of New York,
and Western District of Oklahom&eed. While this Court respects the opinions of its fellow
district courts, these decisions are not binding on this C&etlUnited States v. Ensming&67
F.3d 587, 591 (9th Cir. 2009) (“[A] district court opinion does not have binding precedential
effect,” especially one from another federal circuit.”) (quotiASD Dispute Resolution, Inc. v.
Jud. Council of Ca).488 F.3d 1076, 1069 (9th Cir. 2008ge alsaMcGinley v. Houstorm361
F.3d 1328, 1331 (11th Cir. 2004) (“The general rule is that a district judge’s decisiom higitee
another district judge nor binds him, although a judge ought to give great weight to hisa@wn pi
decisions.”);ATSI Commc’ns, Inc. v. Shaar Fund, L. &847 F.3d 109, 112 (2d Cir. 2008D{strict
court decisions . .creae no rule of law binding on other courts.”). Whenldgmlauthority at
issue is only persuasive, and not binding, the Court may exercise its disaretamding an issue.
Plaintiff itself acknowledges that “Northern District [of California] awatelsd to be smaller than
those out of the Eastern District.” Mot. at 6. That the Court chose to itdl@mster courts in the
Northern Districtrather tharthe select courts identified by Plaintifbes not constitute error, much
less error so clear as hecessitate altering or amending the judgment.

A motion under Rule 59(e) “must show more than a disagreement with thesCourt’
decision, and recapitulation of the cases and arguments considered by the courebdérieg its
original decision fails t@arry the moving partg burderi. United States v. Westland¢ater Dist,
134 F. Supp. 2d 1111, 1131 (E.D. Cal. 2001) (internal quotation marks and citations orAgted)
the Court has both the discretion to determine the amount of damages withimstatidelines,
and the discretion to choose which persuasive authority to follow, the Court did not céeamit ¢
error indecliningto awardmore significant damages or the maximum statutory damages
notwithstanding the decisions of courts in other ditstric

Because Plaintiff has failed to identify a clear error by the Court, thet OENIES
Plaintiff's motion to alter or amend the judgment.

V. CONCLUSION
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For the reasons set forth aboR&intiff’'s motion toalter or amend the judgmeist
DENIED.
IT ISSO ORDERED.

Dated:May 24, 2012

United States District Judge
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